



MEDITERRANEAN AND MIDDLE EAST SPECIAL GROUP (GSM)

THE FUTURE OF IRAQ: SECURITY, STABILISATION AND REGIONAL VOCATION

Preliminary Draft Report

Ahmet Berat ÇONKAR (Turkey) Rapporteur

026 GSM 21 E | Original: English | 9 April 2021

Founded in 1955, the NATO Parliamentary Assembly acts as a consultative interparliamentary organisation which is institutionally separate from NATO. This working document only represents the views of the Rapporteur until it has been adopted by the Mediterranean and Middle East Special Group. It is based on information from publicly available sources or NATO PA meetings — which are all unclassified

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	A TENUOUS SECURITY SITUATION	2
III.	INTERNATIONAL ACTORS IN IRAQ AND THE FUTURE ROLE OF IRAQ IN THE REGION	5
	A. IRAN'S INTERESTS IN IRAQ B. GULF AND OTHER ARAB COUNTRIES C. NATO	7
IV.	ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE CHALLENGES	9
V.	RECONCILIATION AND HUMAN RIGHTS	.12
VI.	DOMESTIC POLITICS IN A DIVIDED COUNTRY	.15
VII.	CONCLUSION	.18
	BIBLIOGRAPHY	10

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Over the last two decades, Iraq has undergone civil war, occupation, a rise in sectarianism and a deep crisis of confidence in the state and its institutions. Some observers claim that Iraq itself is an artificial construct, an amalgam of ethnically and religiously varied populations too diverse to unite under one flag. But this belies the long historical experience of the country and the powerful and enduring appeal of Iraqi identity.

Since 2019, the security situation in Iraq has improved, but the state must contend with significant internal threats and external meddling. Internal divisions are mirrored in rival militias and reinforced by non-Iraqi actors, each pursing their own ambitions. Regional actors including Iran, the Gulf monarchies, and Turkey are playing a key role in the country as are the United States, NATO member countries and – to a lesser degree – NATO itself. Regional rivalries and a greater competition between the NATO Allies on the one hand, and Russia and China on the other, also shape Iraq's security.

The United States has long been the most powerful external player in the region. US strategic thinkers are increasingly concerned that the Middle East is distracting US attention and resources from more fundamental challenges elsewhere. The US military has reduced troops levels in Iraq, although its forces continue to conduct operations against terrorist fighters. NATO member Turkey has powerful interests in the region and has actively confronted the Kurdistan's Workers' Party (PKK). NATO itself is involved in an important training mission that has recently been upgraded.

Iraq's relations with the Gulf countries have grown more complex in recent years, ebbing to their lowest point after the 2011 Arab uprisings when Iraq's political and religious elite backed Shia protesters in the Gulf. Prime Minister Mustafa Al-Kadhimi has sought to improve relations with the Gulf while attracting new investment from that wealthy region. The Gulf countries hope to deepen links to Iraq to ensure that it does not move too far into the Iranian camp.

Iran has sought to prevent Iraq from re-emerging as a military, political or ideological threat. It wants to ensure that Iraq neither collapses into civil war nor constructs an alternative democratic or religious model appealing to disillusioned Iranians who might see it as a signpost for a non-clerical Iranian future. Iran consequently seeks to preserve Iraq's territorial integrity while encouraging a friendly, Shia-dominated government.

Several defence forces currently operate under the umbrella of the Iraqi state, including the Iraqi Army, the Counter-Terrorism Service, the Popular Mobilisation Forces and Kurdish security forces. There are also a range of Shia militias which claim to work for the state. While these groups are well-funded with support from backers in Baghdad and Tehran, their reliability remains a concern. Terrorist groups operating on Iraqi territory constitute a direct challenge to security and stability. With the support of pro-Iranian militias, the PKK continue to undermine Iraq's security while threatening the Iraqi state and the Kurdistan Regional Government.

Iraq's economic outlook has rapidly deteriorated since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Iraqi state oversees an energy export dependent enclave economy and a bloated public sector. The fall of oil prices has hurt the economy, while insecurity, rampant corruption and weak state capacity undermine the capacity of the private sector to create jobs. The corrosion of state finances and persistent sectarianism have contributed to instability. In October 2019, this dynamic triggered one of the country's most significant social and political uprisings. Elite resistance to change, a lack of government responsiveness and the repression of the demonstrations have simply eroded the confidence of Iraqis in their political system. But some protesting groups have begun to coalesce into trans-sectarian political parties that could bring real and essential change to Iraq's political system.

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. The territorial integrity and security of Iraq are essential for the lasting stability of the entire region. What transpires in Iraq has a direct impact on the southeastern flank of the Alliance, as well as on the cohesion and integrity of NATO, which is currently expanding its Mission in Iraq (NMI).
- 2. Iraq is a highly complex country with an ancient history, the signs of which are everywhere apparent. Mesopotamia was a cradle of world civilisation. Its glorious architectural and artistic heritage, the remnants of which still mark the war-scarred landscape, remains a world treasure. For centuries, this land has been the home of adherents of the three Abrahamic religions, and for most of that time, its inhabitants lived and flourished in peaceful coexistence and mutual respect.
- 3. But in the 1970s, Iraq might also have been understood as a young modern state overseeing a proud, rich, complex, and ancient culture. Shias, Sunnis, Kurds, Turkmen, Christians, and Yezidis were some of the constituent elements of this complex mosaic. Although Sunnis do not constitute a majority in Iraq, they long ruled the country. The Ba'ath Party, dominated by Sunni members, imposed a kind of modern secularism on Iraq's political and civil society, arguing that this would provide the key to modernity and development. The extraction of the country's immense oil patrimony would help finance this great undertaking while the security order was anchored to a limited, transactional but nonetheless important relationship with the Soviet Union, which helped Iraq develop its oil industry. In the 1970s, Iraq held the world's second largest oil reserves after Saudi Arabia and had developed an economy on par with several European nations. By 1979, Iraq had achieved a notable degree of development, and the state oversaw a large military, which some saw as a protector of the Sunni Gulf monarchies suddenly threatened by Revolutionary Iran.
- 4. The 1979 ascendance of Saddam Hussein to Iraq's Presidency marked the beginning of a long and catastrophic unravelling for the Iraqi state and a tragic squandering of its accumulated wealth and power. Within roughly a decade, Hussein launched two disastrous invasions of Iran and Kuwait that would ultimately cripple the state and military, result in the deaths of millions of Iraqi soldiers and civilians and set the stage for conflict with the United States and its coalition partners. The Iraqi army was essentially destroyed during the US-led 43-day coalition military campaign. That campaign constituted a massive shock to an already exhausted Iraqi nation. The destruction of infrastructure and services during the war and a long-term sanction regime undermined the quality of life and made life in Iraq all the more precarious.
- 5. In the aftermath of the 1991 Gulf War, precipitated by Saddam Hussein's military intervention in the North of Iraq, approximately 1.5 million Iraqi refugees, the majority of whom were Kurds, flooded across the borders into Turkey and Iran. Turkey welcomed these asylum-seekers and settled them in camps in Turkey. The United States, which had chosen not to prosecute the Kuwait war all the way to Baghdad, embarked on a containment and eventually a rollback strategy and focused particularly on Iraq's Weapons of Mass Destruction (WMD). In the wake of the 9/11 attacks, this concern led Washington to occupy the country. In March 2003, when Iraqi society had not yet recovered from the devastating effects of the Gulf War and the years of international embargo, the United States and its coalition partners crushed the Iraqi military, deposed Saddam Hussein's government, and expressed an ambition to help the country's new leaders to establish a stable democratic political order in Iraq. The intervention led to massive displacement, social and political instability, and human suffering. Despite media reports of dozens of people killed every day for a long period of time, the lack of accurate and credible information on civilian casualties clearly revealed the unique feature and complex nature of the situation in Iraq (Al Samaraie, 2007). Indeed, after 18 years of US intervention, a stable democratic order in Iraq has yet to be established.
- 6. Achieving that particular political order in Iraq has proven extraordinarily difficult. The sectarian balancing act that Hussein managed for nearly three decades (24 years) through his sheer brutality

and violence proved impossible to maintain once he exited from Iraqi politics. Where once a hyper-securitised state had asserted absolute control over Iraqi society, "de-Ba'athification" purged the state of thousands of civil servants and soldiers from the ranks of new Iraqi state. This generated both mass unemployment and intense discontent. Many of the disaffected ultimately joined insurgent groups fighting the new state and the coalition supporting it – with some eventually enlisting in terrorist groups like Daesh.

- 7. Divisions in Iraqi society hardened and became institutionalised. Public offices are now allocated based upon religion and ethnicity. Suddenly, the Shia majority which had suffered heavily under the yoke of the Sunni-led Ba'ath Party was positioned to impose its political will on other groups in Iraq and engaged in a direct confrontation with both the Sunni and Kurdish minorities. This, in turn, paved the way for terrorist organisations to exploit the fragile situation in the country. It also fomented a Kurdish drive for autonomy in the northern reaches of the country which further eroded the security situation in Iraq. Meanwhile Shia majoritarianism had opened the door for direct diplomatic and security cooperation between Shia officials and Iran, Iraq's erstwhile nemesis. After decades of rivalry and a vicious war with its neighbour, Iran suddenly found itself holding at least some of the keys to the country. This was a shocking turn of events.
- 8. From the signing of the Constitution in 2005 until 2011, the United States fought a bloody war to defeat Sunni insurgents in Iraq aiming to help secure the Iraqi state, all while building up the Iraqi Security Forces (ISF) capacity to defend the country. While the US withdrew from Iraq in 2011 under pressure from the Iraqi Parliament, the continued strongly pro-Shia impulses of Iraq's Prime Minister Nouri al-Maliki combined with the ongoing conflict in Syria which offered safe haven to remaining insurgents and the continuing weakness of ISF all contributed to a renewed insurgency, now conducted under the banner of Daesh.
- 9. From 2014 Daesh launched an assault on its enemies in Iraq and coalition forces. It committed mass atrocities against the Iraqi population, including a massacre on the Yezidi and returned Iraq to a state of civil war. Several times over the course of 2014, Daesh routed Iraqi security forces on the battlefield and captured the largely Sunni city of Mosul in Iraq's north, where Daesh also captured the Turkish consulate and held 49 people hostage for 101 days. Having previously withdrawn most of its forces from the country, US forces redeployed to Iraq with coalition partners to help the government in Bagdad drive back and ultimately defeating Daesh, a campaign that culminated in the bloody siege of Mosul in 2017. Daesh, which briefly claimed to have established a so-called Caliphate in parts of Iraq and Syria, lost the territories it once controlled. Nonetheless, it continues to threaten the security of Iraq and several other countries tragically compelled to contend with those fighting under its extremist banner. That Daesh managed to so devastate this large and strategically consequential country with relative ease provides worrying evidence of the persistent weakness of the Iraqi state, which continues to struggle with debilitating sectarian and ethnic rifts.

II. A TENUOUS SECURITY SITUATION

- 10. Since 2019, the security situation in Iraq has somewhat stabilised, but the state must contend with significant internal threats and external meddling. Internal divisions are mirrored in rival militias and reinforced by non-Iraqi actors with a stake in particular outcomes. Regional actors including Iran, the Gulf monarchies, and Turkey are all playing a role in the country as are the United States, its coalition partners and to a lesser degree NATO itself.
- 11. The Iraqi security sector should be strengthened in an inclusive manner. Several defence forces currently operate under the umbrella of the Iraqi state, including the Iraqi Army, the Counter-Terrorism Service, the Popular Mobilization Forces (PMF) and Kurdish security forces. Each of these services operates nominally at the behest of the Iraqi state, but the CTS and the PMFs

answer directly to the Prime Minister. These services vary in their size and capabilities, with some operating at a reasonably high level of professionalism while others are beset with corruption, nepotism, and low morale (Aziz and van Veen, 2019).

- 12. With 300,000 soldiers under arms, the Iraqi Army is by far the largest of these forces. It has the largest budget (USD 17.3 billion in 2019). It is, however, perhaps the least effective of the Iraqi security forces due to its low professionalisation, poor linkages to the government in Baghdad, and its general politicisation. It has also managed to exacerbate sectarian tensions in disaffected Sunni and Kurdish regions of the country. Observers have lauded the courage of individual Iraqi soldiers and the broader rank-and-file, but have been critical of the officer corps, which is beset by competing sectarian and political loyalties, patronage, and corruption (Pfaff, 2020).
- 13. The comparatively small Counter-Terrorism Service (CTS) that answers directly to the Prime Minister, played a central role in the campaign against Daesh beginning in 2015 and has cooperated closely with US forces (Aziz and van Veen, 2019). The CTS proved so effective in the field that it was deployed on the frontline throughout the campaign against Daesh—with the Iraqi Army and the PMFs conducting only supporting tasks (Pfaff, 2020). But overreliance on these effective forces took a toll, and analysts suggest that the CTS suffered a casualty rate of between 50% and 75% across the entire division during the battle for Mosul in 2017 (Amnesty International, 2017).
- 14. Finally, there are the PMFs essentially Shia militias which began operating on behalf of the state after the rise of Daesh in 2014. While the PMFs are increasingly well-funded especially by Shia backers in Baghdad and Tehran there are serious concerns about their reliability and command-and-control. Their actual link to the state itself is tenuous and therefore deeply concerning. The PMFs have overstepped orders on myriad occasions and acted either in contradiction to or without the express approval of Baghdad. They have attacked non-Shia sectarian groups, openly denounced the presence of coalition forces in Iraq and are generally seen as operating outside the control of state institutions. While the PMFs are an increasingly capable fighting force that played an important role in defeating Daesh, significant questions remain regarding their ultimate purpose in the Iraqi security apparatus. It would likely prove highly difficult to integrate these fighters into the Iraqi armed forces (Knights et al., 2020).
- 15. Meanwhile, the United States military has reduced troops levels in Iraq to under 2,500 and has withdrawn from several bases since 2019. The Trump Administration had argued that Iraq is now positioned to take on Daesh fighters without a significant U.S. presence in country. But fighting has continued and attacks on U.S. forces prompted American military leaders to redeploy their forces to only the best defended bases (Cooper and Schmitt, 2021). In March, U.S.-led coalition aircraft carried out 133 airstrikes over 10 days on Daesh assets in northern Iraq, 50 kilometers southwest of Erbil. The strikes targeted a cave complex that served as a haven for terrorists. This was the largest monthly airstrike total in Iraq and Syria since 2019. The attacks supported Iraqi ground forces and took hideouts, caves, and terrorist fighters. The CTS led the ground effort. The United States has not yet agreed a schedule of withdrawal from Iraq, and the Biden Administration is not pushing this issue. Indeed, it is playing a subtle regional diplomatic game in which Iraq is part of a larger strategic puzzle focusing on how best to cope with Iran (Abdul-Zahra, 2021).
- 16. From a broader geo-strategic perspective, Iraq also finds itself in the middle of a greater rivalry between the Western community of nations on the one hand, and Russia and China on the other. Russia's central role in shaping the Syrian conflict and its growing presence in Libya demonstrate its continuing interest in the region in part conditioned by its quest to exercise more control over global energy flows. Similarly, China is a rising power that depends heavily on imported oil and gas and is a global economic power with a growing interest in asserting a presence in the sea lanes of communication. It too is slowly building a presence in the region, which could eventually be of military consequence. The United States has long been the most powerful external player in the region –

with NATO partners, the United Kingdom and France playing a role as well – but US strategic thinkers increasingly worry that the Middle East is distracting its attention and resources from greater challenges elsewhere — namely in the Pacific. Finally, Turkey, a NATO member state, has powerful interests in the region and, as a frontline state, compelled to defend itself by confronting the PKK in order to prevent that terrorist organisation from using the territory of Iraq to launch attacks on Turkey. It strives to avoid causing harm to civilians and does so by employing International Humanitarian Law principles of necessity and proportionality. Turkey has actively worked to upgrade the capacity of Iraqi security institutions in its fight against extremist violence and terrorism and has contributed to NATO's mission in Iraq since its inception. Although the primary target is Daesh, it should not be forgotten that beginning in the 1980s, the PKK has exploited the political and security vacuum in the country to destabilise the entire region. Despite a range of disagreements and challenges to the relationship, Turkey and Iraq continue to conduct a close dialogue to jointly confront the PKK. In this regard, Prime Minister Kadhimi publicly stated that Iraq's concerns about Turkish anti-terror operations are eased by the positive bonds his country shares with Turkey, adding that Turkish leadership statements are assuring (Charbel, 2021).

- 17. All terrorist groups operating on Iraqi territory constitute a direct challenge to the security and stability of Iraq. Prominent among these terrorist groups, the PKK, with the support of pro-Iranian militias continue to defy the security and sovereignty of Iraq and pose a threat both to Baghdad and to the Kurdistan Regional Government (KRG). Iraqi officials, including the KRG, have recently come to recognise the grave threat posed by the PKK. The PKK's resistance to the implementation of the Sinjar Agreement is a cause of concern. Since the signing of the Sinjar Agreement, the PKK started directly targeting Peshmerga and in certain occasions, Iraqi Security Forces. The PKK continues to reinforce its terrorist presence in Sinjar through Syria. Neither normalisation in the region nor the safe return of Yezidis to Sinjar is possible if the PKK actively opposes to the Agreement. Furthermore, the ongoing alignment of pro-Iranian militia groups with the PKK, and the expansion of the NMI in Iraq points to the serious threat to the Alliance posed by the PKK and its affiliates.
- By 2019, there was a general sense that, after years of bitter fighting, Iraqi forces with essential coalition support had finally defeated Daesh. Its self-declared Caliphate could no longer claim significant territorial control in Iraq and in October of that year, U.S. forces killed its self-declared Caliph, Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi. But while the organisation lost its leader and territory, its ideology continues to exercise influence among disaffected groups in Iraq, Syria and elsewhere. Indeed, while Daesh is now significantly more fragmented because of the defeats it has suffered on the battlefield, the organisation has since gone underground and continues to conduct terrorist operations in regions where it is difficult for the US-led Coalition to operate. U.S. officials estimate that between 8,000 and 16,000 Daesh fighters remain in Iraq and Syria, with the group conducting a "low-level" insurgency in rural areas (Everstine, 2021). The release of Daesh members from camps and make-shift detention centers by PKK affiliated terrorist groups in Syria undermines the security of the countries in the region, including Iraq. Moreover, even if Daesh now finds itself on the defensive, many of the underlying political, economic, sectarian, and demographic conditions that drove Iragis into its arms remain unaddressed. This remains a long-term concern both for the Iragi state and for the international community at large. Undoubtedly the COVID-19 pandemic and its economic consequences have exacerbated some of these persistent social, economic, and political tensions and challenges (Cordesman, 2020).
- 19. Kataeb Hezbollah plays a particularly important role on behalf of the Iranian state in Iraq. Founded in 2005 its fighters have actively taken on US forces in Iraq. It now conducts Iran's outreach to Shiite militia groups. In December 2019, US forces had struck Kataeb Hezbollah after it threatened the US Embassy and US personnel (Smythe, 2021). One of its founders, Abu Mahdi alMuhandis, was killed along with Quds Force commander Qassem Soleimani in a Jan. 3, 2020, U.S. airstrike near Baghdad International Airport. Another Iranian controlled group, Kataeb Sayyid al-Shuhada has recruited thousands of fighters for operations in both Iraq and Syria. It is thought to have played a

part in the Saraya Awliyah al-Dam attack on Erbil (Smythe, 2021). The assassination of Qassem Suleimani in Iraq brought the entire region to the brink of armed conflict. Iraq should not become a proxy battlefield where other countries express their rivalry through military action. Along these lines, pro-Iranian militia groups should be reined in.

20. Since 2012, these militia groups also fought in Syria, and thousands of Iraqi fighters engaged to save the regime of Bashar al-Assad. By 2016, over 20 organisations had deployed 10,000 to 15,000 Iraqi Shiite fighters in a civil war that, in many respects, had turned into a proxy war. Although the number of Iraqi fighters in Syria has fallen, many are still operating in Damascus or in parts of eastern Syria near Deir ez-Zor—a strategically crucial area for the Iranian leadership who see it as a link needed to sustain the regime's military and political operations in the Mediterranean. It is hardly a coincidence that Iranian Quds force fighters are also deployed in the region alongside Iraqi militia groups (Smythe, 2021).

III. INTERNATIONAL ACTORS IN IRAQ AND THE FUTURE ROLE OF IRAQ IN THE REGION

A. IRAN'S INTERESTS IN IRAQ

- 21. Iraq and Iran have a long history of complex and sometimes difficult relations. The two countries have, at different times, been strategic partners, rivals, and dire enemies. Prior to 1979, few considered Iraq a serious threat to Iran. This changed after the 1979 Iranian Revolution, at which point Iran cut its ties with its Western partners and found itself surrounded by Arab states that saw the Revolution as a direct threat to their own rule. Iraq holds an important place in Iran's revolutionary religious narrative and strategy, with the two most important Shia religious sites, Karbala, and Najaf, located in Iraq.
- 22. The 1980-1988 war between Iran and Iraq was the Islamic Republic's first major military test, one that came at a huge human and financial cost. In the decades since, Iran has developed a marked capacity to mobilise Shia communities across the region and its proxy militia now operate in Iraq, Syria, Lebanon, and Yemen. This vast network is overseen mostly by the Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC), Iran's most important warfighting force (Associated Press, 2021). Iran's security agencies are highly familiar with Iraq's physical and political terrain and can sustain an active intelligence presence in the country. Its network of political, religious, and armed groups in Iraq affords it enormous leverage in the domestic affairs of its neighbour.
- 23. Iran emerged as a major power broker in Iraq after US intervention in 2003, and, from that point, began to openly support Shia parties and militias in Iraq. Iran's priority has been to prevent Iraq from re-emerging as a military, political or ideological threat. The security and integrity of Iraq constitutes a core foreign policy concern for Iran. It wants to ensure that Iraq neither collapses into civil war nor constructs an alternative democratic or religious model appealing to disillusioned Iranians who might see it as providing a signpost for a non-clerical Iranian future. Iran consequently seeks to preserve Irag's territorial integrity while encouraging a friendly, Shia-dominated government in that country. That said, it also stirs up trouble to keep its neighbour off balance and inward looking. For some experts, this explains the paradox of Iran's simultaneous ties to Iraq's political elite and to rebellious political activists and militia groups opposed to the status quo in Iraq (International Crisis Group, 2015). Both countries have actively worked to deepen economic ties, especially in the light of sanctions imposed on Iran. Today, Iraq is one of Iran's top five trading partners. Iran now sees Iraq as an outlet for its economy which has seriously suffered from the protracted sanctions. US sanctions hit Iran's crude oil revenues and are pushing Iran to create alternatives, including the Iragi market and beyond (Syria). Iraq is the second leading importer of Iranian non-oil commodities. Iran also keeps a closer eye on Iraq's reconstruction projects which might benefit Iranian economy. To

further project economic influence in Iraq, Iran is working to empower its network of proxies in the country which are active across different sectors of Iraqi society.

- 24. Religious, economic, and political interdependence between the two countries has deepened since the onset of the Syrian crisis in 2011. In recognition of Iraq's potential role as a link in a strategic bridge to the Mediterranean, official visits and cooperation agreements have increased significantly.
- 25. With the rise of Daesh in 2014, Iran suddenly faced a new and dangerous enemy along its borders, one vowing to annihilate Shia communities and establishing a so-called caliphate in the region. So grave was the threat that the United States and Iranian interests aligned in the fight against Daesh. Iran actively supported many of the Shia militias that are now part of the PMFs and helped mobilise them to fight Daesh. These groups include, among others, Kataeb Hezbollah, the Imam Ali Brigades, Sayed al-Shuhada and the Badr Organization (also known as the Badr Brigades). The latter is one of the largest groups within the PMF and its chief, Hadi al-Amiri, leads the powerful Fatah bloc in the Iraqi parliament.
- 26. Iraq not only has a problem with disaffected Sunni's, it must also contend with disaffected Shia communities enjoying strong religious, political, and military links to Iranian clerical, military, and intelligence establishments. These ties are reinforced by the powerful Iranian-supported militia groups operating in the country. These groups, by definition, challenge the coherence of the Iraqi state and often propagate the interest of leading factions within the Iranian state. They engage in attacks on US and coalition forces and undermine the unity and security of Iraq. Their mission is reinforced by a powerful pro-Iranian social media, radio, and television presence which offer up anti-Western narratives that resonate in the society, help recruit adherents and fighters, and complicate efforts to stabilise the country.
- 27. Since the official defeat of Daesh, the United States and Iran have resumed their competition for influence in Iraq. Tensions escalated dramatically in January 2020 with the US strike in Baghdad that killed the IRGC's revered commander, Qassem Soleimani, as well as Abu Mahdi al-Muhandis, the head of Kataeb Hezbollah. That strike proved a turning point, as both Soleimani and Al-Muhandis controlled an array of militia groups operating in Iraq. Their deaths outraged Iraqi parliamentarians, who then voted to expel US-led coalition forces from Iraq. Since the killing of the two leaders, militias have grown more aggressive, and several previously unknown militias have emerged (Associated Press, 2021). There have been several attacks on the US Embassy in Baghdad, military bases hosting US troops, and facilities supporting US companies working in Iraq.
- 28. Iran's attitude towards the PKK terrorist organisation and its offshoots across the region is dubious and essentially designed to satisfy its short- and medium-term interests in its neighborhood. While directly confronting PJAK PKK's Iran branch- the Iranian-backed Shia militias seek to undermine "the Sinjar agreement" in tandem with the Sinjar Resistance Units (YBŞ), which is one of the PKK affiliated groups in Iraq.
- 29. Despite Iran's influence with Iraqi elites, many Iraqi Shias oppose the Iranian influence and stand behind their spiritual leader Grand Ayatollah Ali Al-Sistani, promoter of a "national Shiism". There is also mounting public distrust of Iran and the armed militias loyal to it (ICSSI, March 2021). "Iran Out of Iraq" was one of the more frequently heard slogans at the 2019 Thawrat Tishreen rallies attracting primarily young Shia protestors. The rallies, which are often referred to as the October Revolution, have significantly challenged the pro-Iranian dynamic of the political class, which has dominated Iraq politics since the fall of Saddam Hussein (Davis, 2021).
- 30. The Biden Administration must also contend with this formidable Iranian presence as it redefines its role in Iraq and explores the possibility of returning to the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA). It is now communicating to its Iraqi partners that its ambition is to lower the

temperature with Iran. This could make it easier to work out an arrangement for the coming months. But these Iranian supported militia groups pose a genuine conundrum. The talks between United States and Iraq take place under the guise of a Strategic Dialogue, which began during the Trump Administration and which seeks to reinforce bilateral ties. The April discussions will be the first round of formal talks with Iraq's leaders conducted with the Biden Administration. These talks will take place just as the United States returns to discussions in Vienna about Iran's nuclear programme and its own possible return to the JCPOA.

B. GULF AND OTHER ARAB COUNTRIES

- 31. The Gulf countries have a complex relationship with Iraq. During the Iran-Iraq War (1980-1988), Iraq accepted Gulf financial support in exchange for the military containment of the new Islamic Republic's revolutionary ambitions. Iraq stands in the middle of the regional rivalry between Iran and the Gulf states. In 1990, its relations with the Gulf countries entered a new chapter after it invaded Kuwait. The Gulf states were overwhelmingly critical of Saddam Hussein's invasion and occupation of an Arab country, and several took up arms against him (Belbagi, 2021).
- 32. Iraq's relations with the Gulf countries have grown less stable since the US intervention. They reached their lowest point under Prime Minister Nouri al-Maliki (2006-2014), particularly after the 2011 Arab uprisings when Iraq's political and religious figures backed Shia protesters in the Gulf most notably in Bahrain. Maliki alienated much of the Arab world with his sectarian policies and the deliberate marginalisation of Iraqi Sunnis. It could nonetheless be argued that the Gulf countries have not work out a long-term strategic approach to Iraq (Alaaldin, Ranj, 2020). Recently appointed Iraqi Prime Minister Mustafa Al-Kadhimi has sought to attract Gulf investment in Iraq. Given the uncertainties about US intentions for Iran, the Gulf countries now seem to be looking to deepen their ties to Iraq to ensure that it does not move too far into the Iranian camp.
- 33. Kuwait has perhaps enjoyed the most positive relations with Iraq. In February 2018, just a few months after the liberation of Mosul from Daesh, Kuwait organised an international conference with the objective to raise USD 100 billion dollars for the reconstruction of the city. Unfortunately, less than a third of that sum was raised (Mercadier, 2021). Many businessmen and women expressed worries about the political and security risks of doing business in Iraq. No business deal was signed. Although Kuwait and Iraq have a respectful relationship, some issues linked to the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait and Iraq's historical if nonetheless disputed claims on Kuwaiti territory remain including specific border questions and the repatriation of bodies. In March 2021, in the presence of the UN Resident Coordinator, Kuwait received from Iraq the third batch of Kuwaiti property and archives that had been seized during the invasion.
- 34. By contrast, Iraq-Qatar relations have been poor in recent years due to accusations of Qatari involvement in Iraq's internal affairs. In 2019, however, Iraq and Qatar agreed to reactivate economic and trade relations and restore communication channels. Their cooperation includes reconstruction funding, investment, as well as a project to transport goods from several countries to Qatar through Iraqi territory. On 24 March 2021, Qatari Foreign Minister Sheikh Muhammad bin Abdulrahman al-Thani met in Baghdad with top Iraqi leaders. This visit marked a further step in the consolidation of Qatar-Iraq relations.
- 35. Meanwhile, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) has carefully cultivated strong, personalised relationships with key Iraqi leaders. Since 2009, UAE-based Crescent Petroleum has invested over USD3 billion in Iraq. In 2019, it signed a 20-year gas deal with the Kurdistan Regional Government (Reuters, 2019). During the official visit of Prime Minister Al-Kadhimi in March 2021, Iraqi and Emirati leaders agreed to deepen trade and investment ties.

- 36. Finally, Iraqi relations with the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia constitute a delicate balancing act for al-Kadhimi. In January 2021, explosive-laden drones crashed into the royal palace in Riyadh. US media suggested that a militia group had launched the attacks from Iraq. The Iraqi Prime Minister denied the allegations (AFP, 2021). More generally, al-Kadhimi is compelled to walk a diplomatic tightrope between Tehran and Riyadh although it seeks to cultivate good relations with both neighbours. Al-Kadhimi was scheduled to travel to Saudi Arabia on his first foreign trip as Prime Minister in July 2020 but the visit was cancelled at the last minute as King Salman was hospitalised. Kadhimi's trip to Tehran went ahead. In November 2020, Iraq and Saudi Arabia reopened their Arar land border crossing for the first time since 1990 and in March 2021, Al Kadhimi finally visited Riyadh (AFP, 2021). Both countries then agreed to boost trade and economic cooperation. The countries also agreed to maintain energy cooperation to maintain stability in global oil markets.
- 37. Based on the on-going efforts to establish a trilateral mechanism engaging Iraq, Jordan, and Egypt, and focusing on economic integration projects, it is argued that the Kadhimi government is now seeking to enhance relations with other Arab nations beyond the Gulf region.
- 38. Overall, many observers agree that the Kadhimi Government's efforts to diversify Iraq's foreign relations constitutes a step in the right direction. In this regard, the government's resistance in joining any axis in the region is essential to long-term success.

C. NATO

- 39. From 2004 to 2011, NATO engaged in limited training, mentoring and assistance programmes with the Iraqi security forces. This NATO Training Mission in Iraq (NTM-I) was part of a broader international effort to help Iraq establish more effective and accountable security forces. All NATO member countries contributed to that effort either in or outside of Iraq, through financial contributions or donations of equipment. NATO also worked with the Iraqi government on a structured cooperation framework to develop a long-term relationship with the country.
- 40. In July 2015, in response to a request by the Iraqi government, NATO agreed to provide defence and related security capacity building support. In April 2016, it began conducting "train-the-trainer" courses in Jordan for Iraqis (more than 350 Iraqi security and military personnel were trained). Then, following a request from the Iraqi Prime Minister, at the Warsaw Summit in July 2016, NATO leaders agreed to provide NATO training and capacity-building activities to Iraqi security and military forces within Iraq. In January 2017, NATO deployed a modest but scalable Core Team to Baghdad of eight civilian and military personnel, setting up NATO's permanent presence in Iraq. Jordan-based training transferred to Iraq in February 2017. The Core Team coordinated all NATO assistance provided to Iraq in 2017-2018 and laid the foundation for the subsequent establishment of NMI in 2018 (NATO, 2021)
- 41. In October 2018, NATO established an official advisory, training, and capacity-building mission in Iraq at the request of the Iraqi government. The NMI aims to strengthen Iraqi security forces and Iraqi military education institutions so that Iraqi forces are better able to fight all terrorist organisations, an particularly Daesh and the PKK which pose a threat to security and stability in the region, partly as a result of their cross-border links. At the February 2021 Defence Ministerial meeting, NATO Ministers agreed to expand NMI, as requested by the Iraqi government. This decision reaffirmed NATO's long-standing commitment to the development of Iraqi capabilities. NATO Secretary-General Jens Stoltenberg reported that Allied governments had agreed to increase the size of NMI from 500 personnel to as many as 4,000 (Knights et al.) and to broaden its work with the Interior and Justice ministries.
- 42. The NMI is a non-combat advisory, training, and capacity-building mission, which is conducted in full respect of Iraq's sovereignty and territorial integrity. Due to Iraq's complex security situation,

potential trainees within the framework of NMI are vetted diligently to prevent the infiltration of Daesh and PKK terrorists. This practice should continue.

- 43. The mission engages civil and military personnel and coordinates its work with other international actors operating in the country. The mission incorporates gender perspectives in its work and has a gender adviser within the senior advisory group. NATO does not deploy its personnel alongside Iraqi forces during combat operations and only trains Iraqi security forces under direct and effective control of the government of Iraq. Training, advisory and capacity-building activities were initially conducted in the Greater Baghdad area, but after the decision taken in February 2021 to expand the mission, the goal now is to work further afield. Iraqi authorities must consent to any troops increases and these would only occur incrementally.
- 44. NATO's primary goal is to help Iraq strengthen its security forces to fight all terrorist organisations and prevent the re-emergence of Daesh. It does this by advising Iraqi military education institutions and employs a train-the-trainers approach. It also advises the Iraqi Ministry of Defence, the Office of the National Security Advisor, and other national security institutions on how the country might create more sustainable, transparent, inclusive, and effective security institutions and structures. It also focuses on the rule of law, the law of armed conflict, countering corruption, the protection of civilians, children in? armed conflicts, and the Women, Peace and Security agenda.
- 45. Since November 2020 Lieutenant-General Per Olsen (Denmark) has led the NATO Mission Iraq. The authority for the effort falls under Allied Joint Force Command (JFC) Naples, one of NATO's two operational-level commands that stands ready to plan, conduct and sustain NATO operations of differing size and scope across the full spectrum of military response.

IV. ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE CHALLENGES

- 46. Decades of accumulated structural economic problems remain to be tackled. The high rate of unemployment and poor infrastructure create a fertile environment for extremism. 2020 proved a very difficult year for Iraq which, in addition to its security challenges, was suddenly shaken by the COVID-19 pandemic and a related collapse in oil prices. These challenges along with persistent political deadlocks triggered mass demonstrations, delays in nominating a new government and mounting US—Iran tensions that reverberated in Iraqi society. The oil price crash and the coronavirus pandemic have taken a particularly exacting toll on the country. State income has fallen significantly, and the capacity of the state to pay salaries and pensions, which constitute 45 % of total government spending, has been significantly diminished a result. Falling oil revenues dramatically have restricted the government's capacity to cover outlays which are essential to holding the country together.
- 47. Iraq's economic outlook has rapidly deteriorated since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Iraqi state oversees an export dependent enclave economy and a bloated public sector. Insecurity, rampant corruption (Iraq ranked 160 out of 180 in Transparency International's 2020 Corruption Index) and weak state capacity undermine the capacity of the private sector to create jobs and only increase reliance on an enfeebled state. As is the case in much of the Middle East, the state remains the country's most important employer and salary costs have tripled since 2004. Youth unemployment in Iraq is among the highest in the Middle East. The current economic crisis now puts at risk the salaries of millions of public employees. Economists estimate more than 40 percent of the work force depends on government salaries and contracts. 2021 promises further challenges. The economic outlook remains difficult although rising oil prices will certainly help. Iraq's budget deficit is nonetheless estimated to hit USD 43 billion the largest in the country's history and the highest among the OPEC member countries (Shuker, 2021).

- 48. Iraq's revenues fluctuate with oil prices and are clearly not sufficient to finance public sector obligations. Rising debt levels and rampant corruption only complicate the problem. Sectarianism and patronage systems are now deeply entrenched and even institutionalised. The Lebanese case demonstrates how difficult it is to reverse this process. Unlike Lebanon, however, Iraq enjoys an oil endowment that gives it a fighting chance to begin to refill its coffers. But this would require not only a strong recovery of oil prices, but also a degree of fiscal discipline, which in turn, requires political stability and agreement on spending priorities (Ezzeddine and Noun, 2020). That can hardly be assured in the current situation.
- 49. Indeed, the corrosion of state finances and persistent sectarianism has only engendered instability. In October 2019 this triggered one of the country's most significant social and political uprisings. That rebellion known as "Thawrat Tishreen" (October Revolution) were seen by some as marking a political turning point (Davis, 2019). Hundreds of thousands of young Iraqis have since regularly taken to the streets. The uprisings led to the resignation of Prime Minister Adil 'Abd al-Mahdi on 30 November 2019, leaving Iraq with a caretaker government until May 2020 when Mustafa Al-Kadhimi's government assumed the reins of power. Although the uprisings were largely carried out by Shia youth, they have the markings of post-sectarian sentiments. Indeed, those in the streets have called for an end to sectarianism- a message that the Shia dominated political class has hardly welcomed. Demonstrators have paid the price for their engagement including fierce repression, kidnappings and 'disappearances' (Prier, 2021).
- 50. Popular protests in 2019 suggest that young people have adopted a new political mindset. Their legitimate aspirations for social justice are overriding sectarian affiliations. The primary source of discontent among Iraqi youth has been extensive corruption benefitting well connected elites. This is turn, is linked to the virtual absence of social services and soaring unemployment. Many Iraqis feel alienated from a political system that offers them so little. In fact, the first phase of the October Revolution focused on the low standard of living. The second phase was characterised by calls for a new political system, citizenship for all and an end to sectarianism. The third phase involved demanded an end to Iran's mounting interference in the domestic affairs of Iraq (Davis, 2019).
- 51. Since 2003 Iraqis have enjoyed neither peace nor stability. This represents an entire lifetime for many young people, as 70% of the population is under the age of 30. While thousands are demonstrating to establish a functional social democratic order, millions are entrapped by persistent sectarianism, partly enforced by the state, and partly enforced by militia groups. The government is now seen as having failed to meet the most basic needs of ordinary Iraqis including the provision of jobs and essential services. It is beset by rampant corruption which nefariously combines with insecurity to inhibit desperately needed investment in Iraq's future (Ezzeddine and Noun, 2020). The country's youth is clearly fed up with this morass and is pushing for change. But defenders of the status quo have formidable powers of resistance to these demands.
- 52. There are concerns now that this highly fragile Iraqi political structure simply cannot weather the fiscal crisis the state currently confronts. This, in turn, could trigger yet another round of conflict among competing factions. There is thus a compelling argument to lend support to the besieged state and to encourage reforms that are essential to its survival. Prime Minister Kadhimi has pointed to the many obstacles to rebuilding an inclusive Iraqi national identity and an effective administration, including terrorism in all its forms, sectarian conflict, insecurity, corruption, resistance to reform and much needed change (Charbel, 2021).
- 53. Iraq's economy underwent two significant shocks in 2020. Oil prices, which were already falling prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, collapsed as the global economy began to shut down due to lockdown measures and falling demand. Iraq is the world's third most important oil exporter, so these market movements had a profoundly negative impact on an economy that had shown some signs of revitalisation once the civil war had ended and as oil prices recovered. Iraq registered a

GDP growth rate of 4.4% in 2019 (World Bank, 2020), a development that helped generate a budget surplus and a decline in public debt (UNDP, 2020).

- 54. Unfortunately, the pandemic-induced recession has swiftly reversed these trends. The public debt stood at 44.6% of GDP in 2019 but is projected to reach 65.7% of GDP by the end of 2021 due to falling revenues and increasing spending obligations that aim to counter the worst impacts of the crisis (World Bank, 2020) The World Bank and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) expect poverty to increase by over 50% in the aftermath of the pandemic (UNDP, 2020).
- 55. Despite efforts to diversify its economy, Iraq still overwhelmingly depends on fossil fuel exports and functions essentially as an enclave economy dominated by that industry. As one of the world's largest crude oil producers, Iraq generated USD 87 billion through oil exports in 2019 alone (EIA, 2021). The country is endowed with the world's fifth largest reserves of oil, currently estimated at 144.2 billion barrels (IEA, 2020). The sector generates 90% of the state's tax revenues, which leaves the public sector highly vulnerable to global price swings. Falling prices in recent years have slashed government revenues by roughly half. Energy price swings also have an outsized impact on the exchange rate, and when oil prices are high, this can induce a kind of "Dutch Disease" in that prices other domestically produced goods out of global markets. This is obviously a problem for the nonenergy sector, and it impairs the capacity of the country to diversity its economy and find other sources of jobs and wealth. At the other end of the spectrum, when energy prices fall, the value of the Dinar does as well, and this, in turn can induce inflation as the relative price of imported goods soars in the domestic economy (Cornish, 2020). A large oil endowment can thus be both a gift and a curse.
- 56. Some analysts describe Iraq as a "rentier state" where power and wealth largely correlate with access to oil industry-generated income (UNDP, 2020). That same oil sector, however, does not create significant employment. Political allegiance is thus often secured through the distributing of subsidies, cash, or other in-kind benefits to Iraqi households. The practice distorts relative prices and leads to a range of sub-optimal economic impacts. Many Iraqis, for example, perceive electricity as an entitlement provided by the state at no or very low cost. The problem, of course, is that this price distortion leads to resource misallocation, under-investment, price distortions, and waste while environmentally sound practices like energy conservation are simply not encouraged (Kadhim and Vakhshouri, 2020).
- 57. In this distorted economy Iraq's public sector, as is the case in much of the region, is bloated and has become the employer of last resort. The problem has only worsened since the 2003 war. Today, the government is by far the country's biggest employer, and this only starves the anaemic private sector of resources, competitive incentives, and talent. Economists warn that the system has reached its limits and that only the private sector will have the capacity to generate future job growth. The unemployment challenge is particularly dire for young people, and as suggested above, the country is sitting on a demographic and political time bomb if job prospects for young people remain dim.
- 58. Iraq's finance Minister Ali Allawi recently warned officials about the structural instability -caused by the long-cherished practice of purchasing political allegiance and votes through public hiring schemes (Cornish, 2020). According to Mr. Allawi, that exercise has resulted in approximately 300,000 "ghost" employees. The entire superstructure of state generate job creation is also highly vulnerable to oscillating government revenues. When public income flows diminish, the model rapidly generates instability. Delayed government pay checks in November 2020, for example, precipitated worrying public anger and street demonstrations. Indeed, since Saddam Hussein's fall in 2003, successive governments have constantly confronted mass protests generally linked to dysfunctional public services and unemployment.

- Protests, for example, have often followed power outages which occur regularly, particularly throughout the summer months when temperatures in Irag's south can climb to 50 degrees Celsius. In those hot months, electricity consumption soars, and inordinate strains are placed on the country's war damaged power generation system (Kadhim and Vakhshouri, 2020). Of course, because electricity use is subsidized, the industry itself suffers from chronic under investment, making it ever more prone to power outages. Iraq's former Minister of electricity, Luay al-Khatteeb, recently described a "summer ritual" in which demonstrators burn effigies of Iragi politicians to express their frustration with the system in place (Al-Khatteeb, 2020). The problem is that reducing subsidies to generate income for investment also risks triggering public protest. The entire sector is thus caught in a kind of vicious cycle that makes positive change very difficult to achieve and crisis almost a self-fulfilling prophecy. In current crisis circumstances, more economically inspired protests seem likely. Last year, Iraq's finance Minister asserted that Bagdad recognises that structural change will be essential, adding that "if you over-milk [a cow] it might die" (Cornish, 2020). He admitted, however, that austerity of any kind is a notably "hard message" to sell in Iraqi politics. International institutions like the IMF have repeatedly implored the government to abandon jobs for votesschemes, reverse the "unsustainable expansion of wage and pension bills", and reduce "inefficient energy subsidies" (IMF, 2020). In Iraq, short-term political calculations continue to drive decision making, and this has remained the case during an economically catastrophic pandemic.
- 60. Some relief could be on the horizon. The government now expects prices for crude oil to hover around USD 50 per barrel over the coming year. This is 25% higher than the assumption made for the preceding budget. These calculations, however, diverge significantly from the IMF forecasts, which estimate the 2021 price for Iraqi crude oil at USD 39.50 per barrel (Saadi, 2020). The difference points to potential gaps between expected and available funds in 2021.
- 61. Last year already, government salaries and pensions accounted for over 120% of oil incomes (Saadi, 2020). Continuing low oil prices and a slow recovery of the global economy might compel Baghdad either to finally embrace structural change or find other ways to stay liquid and avoid renewed popular unrest. At the end of last year, the Central Bank of Iraq (CBI) announced a devaluation of the dinar of more than 20%, the greatest fall in its value since 2003 (Cornish, 2020). According to the World Bank, the CBI's foreign currency reserves have significantly fallen over the past year. Although the CBI is officially independent, analysts understood the decision as a concession to the government, which would otherwise be hard pressed to meet public sector salary obligations. Any substantial devaluation would likely precipitate a rise of domestic inflation (Cornish, 2020).
- 62. The socio-economic problems of regions where Daesh is active must be addressed to remove the root cause of extremism. Pledges made at the 2018 Kuwait Conference were thus very welcome. On the other hand, Iraq's bureaucracy has made it difficult to follow up on these pledges.

V. RECONCILIATION AND HUMAN RIGHTS

63. As this preliminary draft report has suggested, over the last two decades Iraq has undergone both a rise in sectarianism and a deep crisis of confidence in the state and its institutions. Some observers now claim that Iraq itself is an artificial construct, an amalgam of ethnically and religiously populations too diverse to unite under one flag. But this belies the long historical experience of the country and the powerful pull of Iraqi identity. Many recent studies confirm how important this identity was in the country, at least until Saddam Hussein began to attack the foundations of the state and its traditional identity. Iraq's modern history and the Iraqi nationalist movement demonstrate the transcendent appeal of Iraqi identity, and this identity has not been entirely eviscerated over challenging past forty years.

- 64. Saddam Hussein sought to appropriate any useful national symbols while attacking the underlying sentiments that had long held the country together (Baptiste and Benraad, 2020). His authoritarian regime simply sought to crush those groups that it identified as threats to the nation including the Shia and Kurdish communities (Benraad, 2018). Saddam Hussein's power was essentially built on terror and clannish patronage rather than on sectarianism. Indeed, Sunni Iraqis were not privileged as such: Saddam Hussein's family and clan took pride of place in the hierarchy of the radical state he had constructed. Joining the Ba'ath party offered the best means to gain access to employment, education, and a steady income. Those excluded from this insider's game were subject to the whims of the regime and lived a highly precarious and vulnerable existence as a result.
- 65. It is worth noting that before 2003, nearly one third of marriages in Iraq were between members of different sects. There are still many mixed families and mixed communities in Iraq. Indeed, Iraqi tribes often have more than one religious identification and can include Sunni and Shia clans. For Iraqis, belonging to a tribe is a central pillar of identity. Unfortunately, the perilously demagogic leadership of Saddam Hussein fomented dark suspicion and animosity among groups that had previously coexisted and interacted peacefully. Iraqi sectarianism is thus a relatively recent phenomenon, and its exacerbation is an element of the country's national tragedy (EASO, 2017).
- 66. The war in 2003 also contributed to sectarianism and a state crisis. One unintended consequence of De-Ba'athification was that it led to a dismemberment of the Iraqi state, depriving it of its institutional foundations, institutional memory, and skilled technocrats (Benraad, 2018). Ex-members of the Ba'ath party were excluded from the political process and considered accomplices of Saddam Hussein. Many ultimately joined extremist groups including Daesh.
- 67. It was during this period that an identifiably Shia-led government assumed the reins of power in the geographical space that Iraq now occupies. Ayatollah Ali Al Sistani worked closely with US authorities in Iraq (Canet, 2021), although some Shias were hostile, particularly those close to Moqtada Al Sadr, the son of one of Iraq's most prominent Shia clerics, who Saddam Hussein's regime had assassinated in 1999. Meanwhile the Sunni population felt systematically cut off from the political process and endured discrimination at the hands of the new Shia elite. Al Qaeda and later Daesh exploited these grievances and played on them to help radicalise Sunni communities and recruit new adherents. The so-called Caliphate that Daesh established exacted a huge toll on those unfortunate to live under its brief but terrifying rule. That experience also hardened sectarian barriers in the society and the defeat of Daesh has triggered yet another round of score settling and legal discrimination against those whose relatives engaged with that terrorist organisation. Schools refuse to enrol their children, mothers are denied access to public support, and mukhtars (community mayors) will not allow these families move into their neighbourhoods.
- 68. During Daesh's brutal attacks on the Yazidi homeland of Sinjar in 2014, Daesh fighters kidnapped and enslaved many Yazidi women, some of whom had no choice but to marry terrorist fighters. A number of these women ended up in the notorious al-Hol refugee camp in Syria where Daesh terrorists and their families are now held in captivity by PYD/YPG who also use them as bargaining chips against the West and release them when it suits their agenda. The Yazidi women were permitted to return to Iraq, but their children have not been permitted to leave Syria. The children are not accepted in the Yazidi community and the mothers are effectively exiled. That unresolved issue remains a source of tension and legal dispute (Chulov and Mando, 12/3,2021)
- 69. Hundreds of thousands of Turkmens, Christians, Shabeks and Yazidis were displaced during the conflict and many continue to live as refugees. In the specific case of Yazidis, it is estimated that 80% of Yazidi women between the ages of 17 and 75 suffer from Post-Traumatic Stress Syndrome and 100% for those held in captivity. Conditions for this distressed community, already beset by a massacre, the lack of economic opportunity, and forced displacement have worsened due to the

COVIDpandemic. Female survivors, in particular, are looking to put those involved in perpetrating crimes of genocide, rape and kidnapping on trial for their crimes. Such trials would not only advance justice but would also provide a pathway to healing for this highly traumatised community. The Yazidis are also looking for facilitation of return to destroyed communities and a modicum of economic opportunity so that those communities can once again be viable (Murad, 2021). Yazidi Internally Diplaced People (IDP) communities are also unable to return to their ancestral hometown of Sinjar due to the PKK's presence and despotic control of the district.

- 70. Between 2003 and today, the number of Christians in Iraq has dropped from roughly 1.5 million to fewer than 400,000, out of a population of 39 million Iraqis (Prier, 2021). The situation for Iraqi Christians dramatically deteriorated in 2003: attacks and exactions by gangs and militias began to provoke their exodus. This accelerated with the arrival of Daesh, which drove the Christians out of the northern Iraqi cities, in particular Mosul and Qaraqosh. Some 100,000 are refugees in autonomous Iraqi Kurdistan, and many live in precarious circumstances.
- 71. In early March, Pope Francis visited Iraq to meet with Iraq's leaders, clerics, and the Christian community. The visit was of great symbolic importance and it included a direct meeting in the holy city of Najaf with Grand Ayatollah Ali al-Sistani, the spiritual leader many of the world's Shia Muslims. The Pope thanked al-Sistani for speaking out for the protection of minority religious communities during the civil strife that has beset Iraq. For his part, al-Sistani endorsed calls for granting Christians full rights in the country. Some Shia militias have continued to persecute Christians, so the meeting with al-Sistani communicated a powerful message. In Ur, Francis noted that freedom of conscience and of religion were "fundamental rights" that should be respected everywhere. "We believers cannot be silent when terrorism abuses religion." (Sherwood, 2021). It is a message that he also delivered to worshippers at the Our Lady of Salvation church in Baghdad where in 2010 militants killed 44 worshippers, two priests and security forces. Ultimately, the survival of Iraqi Christians in Iraq hinges on the precise form the Iraqi state ultimately assumes. Pope Francis visited the country not simply to lend support to a religious community, but also to convey a political and social vision rooted in tolerance for all Iraqis (Prier, 2021).
- 72. Although Turkmen constitute the third largest component of the Iraqi society, their marginalisation is a serious problem that must be addressed. Tens of thousands of indigenous Turkmen residents of Talafer, who fled the city either because of Daesh or fear of reprisals because of their Sunni affiliation, continue to live in exile, either as IDPs or refugees. In the specific case of Kirkuk which can be considered as a microcosm of Iraq itself, a just and equal solution that would be satisfactory to all three components of the city Turkmens, Arabs, and Kurds as well as the Christian and other minorities should be encouraged as the only feasible solution. Resolving the Kirkuk issue in such an inclusive and equitable manner would provide a positive example for the rest of the country. In this regard, the reconciliation effort between Baghdad and Erbil provides an important model for bringing together previously divided sectarian groups.
- 73. Ultimately national reconciliation cannot simply be reduced to inflicting a military defeat on Daesh. Iraq must heal deep emotional scars, injustices, and traumas caused by several decades of war, violence, and deprivation. The Iraqi government will have to embark upon a process to redress the wrongs of the past while working in a concrete fashion to overcome the myriad divisions that threaten the very coherence of the Iraqi nation and the functioning of the state. Failure on this front will simply open new spaces for violence. This is a tall order for a state that is already at the limits of political, human, and financial capacities and it will undoubtedly require sustained international support to address these challenges.

VI. DOMESTIC POLITICS IN A DIVIDED COUNTRY

- 74. Iraq's current Prime Minister, Mustafa al-Kadhimi's came to power after two Prime-Minister-designates had failed to form a government. Al-Kadhimi had been a prominent member of the Iraqi opposition during the years of Saddam Hussein's rule. He co-founded and served as the executive director of the Iraq Memory Foundation, which has systematically documented that regime's crimes. Al-Kadhimi also worked as a journalist at Al-Monitor from 2012 to 2016, when he was appointed as the head of the Iraqi intelligence service (Mamouri, 2020). He assumed the position of Prime Minister in May 2020, with strong support from the international community who sees him as a man of principal and dedication to national restoration.
- 75. Al-Kadhimi directly oversees the intelligence service, and the idea is to bring a degree of coherence to the country's highly fragmented security apparatus. Most of his ministers are technocrats with little or no affiliation to political parties. The Finance Minister, Ali Allawi, for example, is a prominent Iraqi academic who served as minister of trade, defence, and finance after 2003. He was the executive director of Arab International Finance and previously worked at the World Bank Group in Washington (Mamouri, 2020).
- 76. Kadhimi quickly laid out priorities for his government, which included: early elections and electoral reform, combatting COVID-19, settling outstanding issues with the Kurdistan Regional Government, maintaining state control over arms, and addressing the persistence of violence against protesters. While the Prime Minister can directly shape some policy areas in pursuit of these goals including security and foreign affairs others require the cooperation of the Council of Representatives, such as on electoral and financial reforms. Kadhimi's has established a close rapport with President Barham Salih and the Speaker of Parliament Mohammed al-Halbusi. He also benefits from strong ties with Iraq's key constituencies, as enjoys the goodwill of almost all Allies, key regional capitals, and the international community in general. Since assuming office in May 2020, Prime Minister Kadhimi has pushed hard for political and economic reforms to address country's chronic problems. But he has confronted stiff resistance. Despite domestic and international constraints, he has made several attempts to bring armed militias under state control. At this critical stage, Kadhimi's non-sectarian and inclusive approach deserves the strong support of the international community.
- 77. In response to demands made by demonstrators at "Thawrat Tishreen", the government initially agreed to hold early elections in June 2021. In January 2021, however, the government postponed these, and they are now slated for 10 October 2021. The Independent High Electoral Commission (IHEC) sent invitations to the embassies of 71 Arab and foreign countries and international organisations to monitor these elections. A UN mission will provide support for the IHEC, including on media, logistical and electoral aspects.
- 78. Almost a year after Mustafa Al-Kadhimi's nomination, some argue that his government has not lived up to initial expectations and the living conditions in the country are still not improving. Iraq has the world's 19th highest COVID-19 infection rate a number that is likely to be an undercount because of the country's low testing capacity, which has barely improved under al-Kadhimi (Alshamary, 2020). The Prime Minister had also promised to seek justice for the hundreds of protesters who lost their lives. In October 2020, he formed an official committee to investigate those crimes.
- 79. Al-Kadhimi has made several calls for reconciliation and inter-community dialogue. In August 2020, he declared "Iraqis of all sects are yearning for a new Iraq that believes in peace and rejects violence" (ICSSI, February 2021). Again, in March 2021, he called on political forces, young protestors, and the opposition to join in a comprehensive national dialogue and promoted it as "the only way to build a state and well-establish the state concepts to empower its success" (Abu Zeed,

- 2021). Many Iraqi political forces have already confirmed they would participate in this national dialogue. On behalf of the Kurdistan Regional Government, Masrour Barzani welcomed the initiative "involving the political parties in order to resolve all problems and conflicts." However, the Fatah Alliance (which holds 48 of the 329 seats in the Council of Representatives) sharply opposed this proposal, affirming that "it is useless to hold a national dialogue before achieving full sovereignty and the exit of foreign forces."
- 80. Indeed, the presence of foreign forces in the country remains a critical fault line in this divided country. Political factions and militias loyal to Iran have strongly advocated for remaining US troops to leave. On 25 March 2021, the Rab'Allah militia threatened to target US forces and their agents during a military parade in the streets of Baghdad. The procession also sought to undermine Prime Minister Mustafa al-Kadhimi's credibility ahead of the new round of strategic Iraq-U.S. talks on the withdrawal of remaining US troops and on bilateral relations, scheduled in April 2021. In response to the Rab'Allah's parade, on 30 March the Iraqi government deployed heavily armed units of the Iraqi Army and Special Operations forces in the main squares and streets of the capital.
- 81. Most political parties operated in exile during years of Saddam Hussein's dictatorship. Their leaders returned in 2003 armed with ideas and, in some cases, a sense of entitlement, but without recent governmental experience or even familiarity with life in Iraq under Saddam Hussein. Following the US-led invasion, the Coalition Provisional Authority (CPA) became the sovereign of Iraq. During this period, any political actor seeking to shape policy needed to cultivate strong relationships with the CPA. The CPA worked well with sectarian-based political parties, and these became quickly entrenched in the country's new governing elite. The country's political parties continue to cultivate foreign governments for support and legitimisation and most political parties benefit directly from foreign financial contributions.
- 82. The 2005 Constitution defines Iraq as a unitary federal state with a "republican, representative, parliamentary, and democratic" system of government. A major gap opened in Iraq's nascent democracy between its governance model as laid down in the Constitution and the manner in which power is actually wielded. Politicians are nominated and appointed based on their ethnic or sectarian identity rather than their politics, ideas, merit, or competence. This informal system is known as Al-Muhasasa (Al-Shadeedi et van Veen, 2020): this is a Lebanese style of sharing out of top-level executive functions among the main sectarian groups (Shia, Sunni, Kurds, minorities). For example, the offices of President, Speaker of the Parliament and Prime Minister are staffed by respectively a Kurd, a Sunni, and a Shia. Votes are sought to enhance leverage in national level bargaining, but the sectarian system essentially predetermines what can be won and it encourages populist and sectarian rhetoric instead of clear political programmes.
- 83. The al-Muhasasa system has become a source of grave dissatisfaction among Iraqis from all sects because of the poor outcomes it generates for its citizens. Elite resistance to change, a lack of government responsiveness and the repression of the demonstrations have simply eroded the confidence of Iraqis in their political system. The Parliament is now directly associated with widespread corruption and sectarianism. It should hardly be surprising that turnout at the last parliamentary elections in May 2018 was the lowest since 2005 (Al-Shadeedi et van Veen, 2020).
- 84. Iraq's sectarian political system has failed to stave off mounting-political fragmentation within each of the sectarian groups. The general composition of the parliament following the 2018 elections include 187 Shia, 70 Arab Sunnis, 58 Kurds, four Turkmens, and nine members representing other minorities. Far from consisting of unified sectarian blocs, it was marked not only by sectarian divisions but also by splintered Shia, Sunni, and Kurdish factions (Mikail, 2020). In addition, the presence of armed groups operating outside state control has paralysed the political system.

- 85. Indeed, Shia parties compete vigorously with one another, and no Shia political leader can claim influence across Iraq's entire Shia population. In the 2018 elections, the three main Shia parties emerged with comparable results: 54 seats for Sairoun (Muqtada Al-Sadr), 48 seats for the Fatah Alliance (Hadi Al-Ameri) and 42 seats for Al-Nasir (Haider Al-Abadi). The nationalist and trans-sectarian Sairoun as well as Al-Nasir have backed Al-Kadhimi's government, while the Fatah Alliance, a coalition of Iranian-supported militia groups, stands in opposition.
- 86. The 70 Arab Sunni members of parliament are also divided among various parties and coalitions, starting with the National Coalition (17 Arab Sunni MPs). Some of these groups have adopted an expressly pro-Sunni stance, but others are nationalist and trans-sectarian. The post-2018 elections situation differs considerably from 2005, when most Arab Sunnis boycotted parliamentary elections.
- 87. Kurdish unity has also proved elusive and Kurdish votes are divided between the Kurdistan Democratic Party (KDP 25 seats) and the Patriotic Union of Kurdistan (PUK 18 seats). The attempt to launch a Kurdish independence referendum has further fragmented Kurdish politics. While both parties strongly favour Kurdish autonomy, they do not agree on how best to manage the day-to-day affairs of the Kurdistan Regional Government (Mikail, 2020).
- 88. Over the past few months, Thawrat Tishreen protestors themselves have been moving into politics. Some analysts suggest that these new groups could bring real change to Iraq's political system (Schaer, 2021). One of the best-known activists, Alaa Rikabi, has now founded a party called "Imtidad". Another young leader, Tallal al-Hariri founded the "October 25" party, named after one of Iraq's largest anti-government protests. Hussein al-Gharabi, an activist and a lawyer, co-founded the National Home party. The three share several goals: to replace the al-Muhasasa system that institutionalises clientelism and a culture of bribery and replace it with a government of technocrats selected for their expertise (Vohra, 2021). They regard themselves as secular and have spoken out against Iranian influence in Iraqi politics--a position that has angered armed groups supported by Iran.
- 89. Compared to the long-established parties, these new entrants are inexperienced and underfunded. But the new electoral law, ratified in November 2020 gives them hope. Aimed at giving political independents a better chance of winning seats in parliament, the new law has turned Iraq's 18 provinces into 83 electoral districts and prevents parties from running on unified lists. In the past, one party could win a whole province and then select candidates from its list. Now, the seat in parliament will go to whoever wins the most votes in a local electoral district. Some experts say these new parties could make a difference in October 2021. To challenge established parties, these newcomers would need to unite, overcome their internal disagreements, and agree to field one candidate in each of the different district instead of competing against each other. They are now working out the modalities for this kind of coordination (Schaer, 2021).

VII. CONCLUSION

- 90. Iraq is situated in a region of significant strategic importance both as a crossroads and as a supplier of energy. It is a region in which both China and Russia are ever more deeply engaged, and its instability has a demonstrable impact on regional and global stability and security. NATO's decision to increase its presence in the country is a tacit recognition of these dynamics.
- 91. It is important to understand the situation in Iraq through both a regional and broader strategic lens. Policies toward Iraq will invariably be judged on their capacity to reinforce regional stability or their potential to undermine it. Among the positive region-wide developments in recent years have been the virtual eradication of Daesh in Iraq and Syria, Kuwaiti efforts to mediate between Qatar and the Arab Quartet, clear signals from the Gulf that a new approach to the Yemen conflict is needed and the onset of new talks about how the United States and Iran might reengage with the JCPOA and all the issues that have been linked to this important but now largely moribund agreement. International actors should also strongly support the implementation of the Sinjar Agreement, in line with the calls of the UN. This would represent an important step towards normalisation, reconstruction, and security of the Sinjar region. Allies should encourage and support the Iraqi government in its endeavors to eradicate presence of all terrorist organisations in Iraq.
- 92. It is very important that NATO remain engaged in Iraq and supportive of its government at this delicate moment. Doing so would make a distinctive contribution to the government's capacity to conduct military operations, increase public confidence in the state, and provide the needed stability and reforms to improve the investment environment. It would also help Iraq to eliminate those vulnerabilities that have had a destabilising impact on the country and the broader region.
- 93. Iran needs to be deterred from its proclivity for interfering in the internal politics of its neighbors, a practice which has helped put much of the region on a knifes edge. The commitment of NATO Allies to support security reform in Iraq and operations against those seeking to undermine Iraqi sovereignty sends an important diplomatic message that Iraq's independence and continued viability remain an important interest for key international players. This means not only supporting a broad deterrence strategy against those states that would undermine Iraqi sovereignty, but also lending help to reform and reconstruction efforts in Iraq.
- 94. Revitalising the diplomatic process with Iran could be helpful to Iraq although there are clearly risks to doing so as well. Returning to a sober dialogue with that county might make it possible to resurrect the JCPOA, build in additional protocols to provide much needed reassurance and lower tensions in a region threatened by persistent internal and cross-border rivalries. It is increasingly difficult to foresee success on this front if the issue of Iran's adventurism beyond its borders is not dealt with.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abu Zeed, Adnan, Iraq's PM calls for national dialogue, 19 March 2021, https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2021/03/iraqs-pm-calls-national-dialogue
- Abdul-Zahra, Qassim, "Iraq wants new round of talks over withdrawal of remaining US combat forces", The Associated Press, 24 March 2021, https://www.militarytimes.com/news/pentagon-congress/2021/03/23/iraq-wants-new-round-of-talks-over-withdrawal-of-remaining-us-combat-forces/
- AFP, Iraq PM seeks to soothe security concern on Saudi visit, 1 March 2021, https://www.rfi.fr/en/middle-east/20210401-iraq-pm-seeks-to-soothe-security-concern-on-saudi-visit
- Alaaldin, Farhad, Iraq's New Dawn: A New Government and A New Political Reality, 11 May 2020, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/iraqs-new-dawn-new-government-and-new-political-reality
- Alaaldin, Ranj, Iraq's best hope is developing stronger ties to the Gulf with US help, 19 August 2020, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2020/08/19/iraqs-best-hope-is-developing-stronger-ties-to-the-gulf-with-us-help/
- Al-Khatteeb, Luay, Fixing Iraq's power sector, 10 August 2020, https://www.mei.edu/publications/fixing-iraqs-power-sector
- Al-Mawlawi, Ali, Public Sector Reform in Iraq, Chatham House, June 2020, https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/2020-06-17-public-sector-reform-iraq-al-mawlawi_0.pdf
- Al-Monitor, Five priorities for the US-Iraq strategic dialogue include recognizing regional role for Iraq, 8 May 2020 https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2020/05/iraq-us-strategic-dialogue-priorities-regional-role-kadhimi.html
- Al-Monitor, Iraq's PM calls for national dialogue, 19 March 2021, https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2021/03/iraqs-pm-calls-national-dialogue
- Al Samaraie, Nasir Ahmed, Humanitarian implications of the wars in Iraq, International Review of the Red Cross, Volume 89, Number 868, December 2007, https://international-review.icrc.org/sites/default/files/irrc-868-10.pdf
- Al-Shadeedi, Hamzeh and Erwin van Veen, Iraq's adolescent democracy, June 2020, https://www.clingendael.org/pub/2020/iraqs-adolescent-democracy/
- Alshamary, Marsin, The pope goes to Najaf: The person and the institution of Sistani, 4 March 2021, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2021/03/04/the-pope-goes-to-najaf-the-person-and-the-institution-of-sistani/
- Alshamary, Marsin, Six months into his premiership, what has Mustafa al-Kadhimi done for Iraq?, 13 November 2020, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2020/11/13/six-months-into-his-premiership-what-has-mustafa-al-kadhimi-done-for-iraq/
- Amnesty International, "At Any Cost, The Civilian Catastrophe in West Mosul, Iraq," July 11, 2017. https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/MDE1466102017ENGLISH.PDF
- Associated Press, Who are Iraq's Iran-backed militias?, 31 December 2019, https://apnews.com/article/57a346b17d6da07ae732ba1437520fd2
- Associated Press, 'We Are the Decision Makers': Iran-aligned Militias Threaten Stability in Iraq, 31 March 2021, https://www.haaretz.com/middle-east-news/iraq/we-are-the-decision-makers-iran-aligned-militias-threaten-stability-in-iraq-1.9671698
- Aziz, Sardar, and Edwin van Veen, "A State With Four Armies: How to Deal with the Case of Iraq," War on the Rocks, November 11, 2019. https://warontherocks.com/2019/11/a-state-with-four-armies-how-to-deal-with-the-case-of-irag/
- Baptiste, Enki, Myriam Benraad, Irak : de Babylone à l'État islamique, idées reçues sur une nation complexe, 27 April 2020, https://www.lesclesdumoyenorient.com/Myriam-Benraad-Irak-de-Babylone-a-l-Etat-islamique-idees-recues-sur-une-nation.html
- Baker, James A. III and Hamilton, Lee H., 6 December 2006, The Iraq Study Group Report, https://www.usip.org/publications/2006/12/iraq-study-group-report
- Belbagi, Zaid M., Iraq needs to return home by rejoining Arab fold, 24 March 2021, https://www.arabnews.com/node/1831396

- Benraad, Myriam, L'Irak, par-delà toutes les guerres, 2018, https://www.cairn.info/l-irak-par-dela-toutes-les-guerres--9791031802893.htm
- Brockhaus, Hannah, "Pope Francis meets Iraqi Catholics in church where 48 died in 2010 terrorist attack", Catholic News Agency, 5 March 2021, https://www.catholicnewsagency.com/news/246734/pope-francis-meets-iraqi-catholics-in-church-where-48-died-in-2010-terrorist-attack
- Calabrese, John, "Iraq's Fragile State in the Time of Covid-19, 8 December, 2020, The Middle East Institute, https://www.mei.edu/publications/iraqs-fragile-state-time-covid-19
- Charbel, Ghassan, Iraq PM to Asharq Al-Awsat: We Are Destined to Rid Ourselves of Foreign Hegemony, Asharq Al-Awsat, 1 March 2021, https://english.aawsat.com/home/article/2834341/iraq-pm-asharq-al-awsat-we-are-destined-rid-ourselves-foreign-hegemony
- Canet, Jean-Pierre, Irak, destruction d'une nation, février 2021, https://www.france.tv/france-5/irak-destruction-d-une-nation-saison-1/2218803-episode-1-l-allie.html
- Chulov, Martin, "After rocket attack, Biden faces first real test on Iran", The Guardian, 16 February 2021, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/feb/16/middle-east-biden-resumption-traditional-diplomacy-analysis
- Chulov Martin and Nechirvan Mando, "Cast out: the Yazidi women reunited with their children born in Isis slavery", 12 March, 2021, The Guardian, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/mar/12/cast-out-the-yazidi-women-reunited-with-their-children-born-in-isis-slavery
- Cooper, Helene and Eric Schmitt, "U.S. Airstrikes in Syria Target Iran-Backed Militias That Rocketed American Troops in Iraq, The New York Times, 25 February, 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/2021/02/25/us/politics/biden-syria-airstrike-iran.html
- Cordesman, Anthony H., "The Real World Capabilities of ISIS: The Threat Continues", The Center for Strategic and International Studies, 9 September, 2020, https://www.csis.org/analysis/real-world-capabilities-isis-threat-continues
- Cornish, Chloé, Iraq devalues currency by a fifth as oil-price collapse hits, 20 December 2020, https://www.ft.com/content/b8ceacab-b8af-4581-b687-f9495f5145aa
- Cornish, Chloé, Iraq boosts coffers by \$2bn in Chinese prepaid oil deal, Financial Times, 3 January 2021, https://www.ft.com/content/8f5cbca2-1c9d-42b7-93eb-cd3622760c1b
- Dagher, Munqith, "Iraqi Stability and Its Free-Falling Middle Class", Center for Strategic and International Studies, 21 October, 2020, csis.org/analysis/iraqi-stability-and-its-free-falling-middle-class
- Davis, Eric, The October Revolution (Thawrat Tishreen): Why, When and What will it Accomplish in the Future?, 30 December 2019, http://new-middle-east.blogspot.com/2019/
- Davis, Eric, The October Revolution and the Popular Mobilization Units: Will Iraq become a Province of Iran?, 31 January 2021, http://new-middle-east.blogspot.com/2021/01/
- Ditmars, Hadani, "Waiting for a miracle in Iraq", Middle East Institute, 26 February, 2021 https://www.mei.edu/publications/waiting-miracle-iraq
- EASO (European Asylum Support Office), Iraq Practical Cooperation Meeting Report, July 2017, https://www.easo.europa.eu/sites/default/files/publications/coi-iraq-meeting-report.pdf
- IEA (US Energy Information Administration), IEA Atlas of Energy, 2020, http://energyatlas.iea.org/#!/tellmap/-1920537974
- EIA, Executive Summary, 24 February 2021, https://www.eia.gov/international/content/analysis/countries long/lrag/
- European Parliament, AFET, Rebuilding the Iraqi State: Stabilisation, Governance, and Reconciliation, February 2018, https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2017/603859/EXPO_STU(2017)603859_EN.pdf
- Esfandiary, Dina and Ariane Tabatabai, Iran's ISIS policy, 2015, https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_docs/INTA91_1_01_Esfandiary_Tabatabai.pdf

- Everstine, Brian, "Coalition Aircraft Batter ISIS with 133 Airstrikes in Iraq", Airforce Magazine, 22 March, 2021, https://www.airforcemag.com/coalition-aircraft-batter-isis-with-133-airstrikes-in-iraq
- Filiu, Jean-Pierre, L'étau turc se resserre sur le nord de l'Irak, 7 March 2021, https://www.lemonde.fr/blog/filiu/2021/03/07/letau-turc-se-resserre-sur-le-nord-de-lirak/
- GOV.UK, "UK action to combat Daesh", https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/daesh/about
- Ezzeddine, Nancy and Beatrice Noun, Iraq and Lebanon's tortuous paths to reform, CRU Report, December 2020, https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2020-12/iraq-and-lebanons-tortuous-paths-to-reform.pdf
- ICSSI (Iraq Civil Society Solidarity Initiative), Pope's Schedule in Iraq Reveals Two Missions, 14 February 2021, https://www.iraqicivilsociety.org/archives/12231
- ICSSI, What Does It Mean to Continue Demonstrations?, 1st March 2021, https://www.iraqicivilsociety.org/archives/12277
- IMF (International Monetary Fund), IMF staff completes 2020 Article IV Mission with Iraq, 12 December 2020, https://www.imf.org/en/News/Articles/2020/12/13/pr20372-imf-staff-completes-2020-article-iv-mission-with-iraq
- International Crisis Group, Iran in Iraq: How Much Influence?, 21 March 2015, https://www.crisisgroup.org/middle-east-north-africa/gulf-and-arabian-peninsula/iran/iran-iraq-how-much-influence
- Jiyad, Sajad, Müjge Küçükkeleş and Tobias Schillings, Economic Drivers of Youth Political Discontent in Iraq: The Voice of Young People in Kurdistan, Baghdad, Basra and Thi-Qar, 21 October 2020, https://www.dmeforpeace.org/the-iraqi-knowledge-sharing-platform/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Economic-Drivers-of-Youth-Political-Discontent-in-Iraq-The-Voice-of-Young-People-in-Kurdistan-Baghdad-Basra-and-Thi-Qar.pdf
- Khadim, Abbas and Vakhshouri, Sara, Iraq's Energy Security Strategy: A Path to Diversity and Energy Independence, December 2020, https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/resrep27636.pdf
- Knights, Michael, Hamdi Malik, and Aymenn Jawad al-Tamimi, "The Future of Iraq's Popular Mobilization Forces," *The Washington Institute for Near East Policy*, May 28, 2020. https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/future-iraqs-popular-mobilization-forces
- Knights, Michael, Pierre Morcos and Charles Thépaut, "NATO in Iraq: Not a Surge", The Washington Institute, 5 March, 2021, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/nato-iraq-not-surge
- Malik, Hamdi, "Understanding Iran's Vast Media Network in Arab Countries", Washington Institute, 2 March,2021, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/understanding-irans-vast-media-network-arab-countries
- Mamouri, Ali, Meet Iraq's new Cabinet, 7 May 2020, https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2020/05/iraq-new-cabinet-mustafa-kadhimi-economy-security-covid19.html
- Mansour, Wael and Bledi Celiku, "Breaking Out of Fragility A Country Economic Memorandum for Diversification and Growth in Iraq," The World Bank, 30 September , 2020, http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/573051601533287890/pdf/Breaking-Out-of-Fragility-A-Country-Economic-Memorandum-for-Diversification-and-Growth-in-Iraq.pdf
- McVann, Christine, "Reshaping U.S. Force Posture in the Middle East", The Washington Institute, 10 March, 2021, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/reshaping-us-force-posture-middle-east
- Mercadier, Sylvain, Mossoul, ravagée par l'État islamique, abandonnée par Bagdad, 13 January 2021, https://orientxxi.info/magazine/irak-mossoul-ravagee-par-l-etat-islamique-abandonnee-par-bagdad,4419
- Murad Nadia "Yazidis have been forgotten during Covid. They need justice, jobs and a return home", The Guardian, 24, February, 2021, https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/feb/24/yazidis-iraq-justice-jobs-safe-return-home-nadia-murad

- National Public Radio, "European Mediators Aim to get U.S. and Iran to reenter the 2015 Nuclear Deal", National Public Radio-All Things Considered, 2 April 2021, https://www.npr.org/2021/04/02/983925063/european-mediators-aim-to-get-the-u-s-and-iran-to-re-enter-the-2015-nuclear-deal
- NATO, "NATO Mission in Iraq", 11 March 2021, https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics_166936.htm
- Pfaff, Anthony C., "Professionalizing the Iraqi Army: US Engagement After the Islamic State," *United States Army War College Press,* December 2020. https://press.armywarcollege.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1914&context=monographs
- Prier, Pierre, Irak. Le pélerinage très politique du pape François, Orient XXI, 4 March 2021, https://orientxxi.info/magazine/irak-le-pelerinage-tres-politique-du-pape-francois,4574
- Rey, Matthiey, Depuis 1979, L'Irak, champ clos de l'affrontement entre Washington et Téhéran, Orient XXI, 21 January 2020, https://orientxxi.info/magazine/l-irak-champ-clos-de-l-affrontement-entre-washington-et-teheran,3551
- Riedley, Bruce and Katherine Harvey, Why is Saudi Arabia finally engaging with Iraq?, 4 December 2020, https://www.brookings.edu/blog/order-from-chaos/2020/12/04/why-is-saudi-arabia-finally-engaging-with-iraq/
- Middle East Monitor, Iraq: PMF, Daesh clashes escalate in Western desert, 28 January 2021, https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20210128-iraq-pmf-daesh-clashes-escalate-in-western-desert/
- Middle East Monitor, Thousands of Iraqis protest government employment policy, 1st February 2021, https://www.middleeastmonitor.com/20210201-thousands-of-iraqis-protest-government-employment-policy/
- Mikail, Barah, Nation or Religion? Iraq's Hybrid Identity Politics, 16 June 2020, https://www.mei.edu/publications/nation-or-religion-iraqs-hybrid-identity-politics#_ftn11
- Reuters, "US will retaliate for Iraq missile strike when it chooses, defense secretary says", 7 March 2021 16.04 GMT https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2021/mar/07/us-iraq-missile-strike-iran-defense-secretary-lloyd-austin
- Reuters, UAE-based Crescent Petroleum has invested over \$3 billion in Iraq: CEO, 10 December 2019, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-emirates-investment-crescent-iraq-idUSKBN1YE1AY
- Saadi, Dania, Iraq forecasts 2021 crude oil price at \$50/b; proposes oil, gas reforms, 14 October 2020, https://www.spglobal.com/platts/en/market-insights/latest-news/natural-gas/101420-iraq-forecasts-2021-crude-oil-price-at-50b-proposes-oil-gas-reforms
- Schaer, Cathrin, Iraq's new protester parties plan to change the country, 22 January 2021, https://www.dw.com/en/iraqs-new-protester-parties-plan-to-change-the-country/a-56312305
- Schenker, David, "Our presence in Iraq remains a vital US national security interest," The Washington Institute, 11 March 11, 2021,https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/our-presence-iraq-remains-vital-us-national-security-interest
- Sherwood, Harriett, "Pope Francis and Grand Ayatollah Sistani call for unity at Iraq meeting", The Guardian, 6 March, 2021, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/mar/06/pope-francis-and-grand-ayatollah-sistani-call-for-unity-at-iraq-meeting
- Shuker, Zeinab F., Poverty, Conflict and Political–Economic Crisis in a Fragile Iraq, 21 January 2021, https://epc.ae/topic/poverty-conflict-and-politicaleconomic-crisis-in-a-fragile-iraq
- Smythe Phillip, "Why Biden's Airstrikes on Iran Militias Matter The Washington Institute, 26 February, 2021, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/why-bidens-airstrikes-iran-militias-matter
- UNDP, Impact of Covid-19 on the Iraqi economy, October 2020, https://www.arabstates.undp.org/content/rbas/en/home/library/crisis-response0/impact-of-covid-19-on-the-iraqi-economy.html

- University of Minnesota, Holocaust and Genocide Studies, , "Mass Violence and Genocide by the Islamic State/Daesh in Iraq and Syria", https://cla.umn.edu/chgs/holocaust-genocide-education/resource-guides/mass-violence-and-genocide-islamic-statedaesh-iraq-and-syria
- Vohra, Anchal, For Lebanese and Iraqis, small victories in a long struggle, 20 February 2021, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/2/20/for-lebanese-and-iraqis-small-victories-in-a-long-struggle
- World Bank, Iraq Economic Monitor, Fall 2020, https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/34749/154260.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y
- Zelin, Aaron Y., "Jihadi Movements 2021: ISIS, al-Qaeda, and Hayat Tahrir al-Sham", The Washington institute, 17 March 2021, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/jihadi-movements-2021-isis-al-qaeda-and-hayat-tahrir-al-sham TWI English